Unit II:  But It’s Mine
Involuntary Transfers of Property
Chapter 3:  Eminent Domain

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

48.  The government typically uses its eminent domain power to purchase land to build schools, roads, and other government public works projects.  Why do we allow the government to force parties to sell it property?  Why not make the government bargain with the current owner like any other party that wishes to purchase land?

49.  The courts have read the “just compensation” language of the Fifth Amendment to require that the government pay fair market value for any property it purchases using the Eminent Domain power.  If the property owner is receiving a fair price, why do we need any limits on the government’s ability to exercise Eminent Domain?  How is the property owner harmed?

50.  What might “public use” mean as it is used in the Fifth Amendment?  Why is this particular limitation placed on the government’s ability to force owners to sell their property?
51.  Midkiff says that a government’s exercise of the Eminent Domain power will not violate the Public Use requirement if it is “rationally related to a conceivable state purpose.”   Apply this “rational basis” test to the facts of Kelo.
52.  The Supreme Court majority says in Kelo that it will give legislatures “broad latitude in determining what public needs justify the use of the takings power.” (P184)  What arguments do you see that support this kind of deference to the legislature?  What are the dangers of this approach?

53.  What limits does the majority suggest there might be to its deferential approach to public use?  What limits does Justice Kennedy suggest in his concurrence?  

54.  Justice O’Connor wrote the majority opinion in Midkiff.  How does she distinguish that case in her dissent in Kelo?  Is that distinction convincing?

55.  What approach to public use does Justice Thomas advocate in his dissent? What are the strengths and weaknesses of that approach?  Why does he believe that the interests of poorer citizens and people of color are particularly threatened by the majority’s approach?  Is this concern convincing?

56.  Keeping in mind that the states are free to put more limits on their own powers, how should the U.S. Supreme Court define public use for the purposes of the Federal Constitution?

The Facts in Poletown (see Note 3 P193-95) from Justice Ryan’s dissent: 

The controversy arises in the context of economic crisis. … Unemployment in the state of Michigan is at 14.2%.  In the City of Detroit it is at 18%, and among black citizens it is almost 30%.  The high cost of doing business in Michigan generally has driven many manufacturers out of this state and to the so‑called sunbelt states on a continuing basis during the past several years. Nowhere is the exodus more steady or more damaging than from the Metropolitan Detroit area. … [T]he Chrysler Corporation, headquartered in Detroit, is “on the ropes” … [and] the Ford Motor Company, the American Motors Corporation and the General Motors Corporation have all, within days, reported for the previous year the largest financial losses in their histories.  … [O]verseas automobile manufacturing competition … is largely accountable for domestic automobile industry losses.  To meet that competition, domestic manufacturers are finding it necessary to construct new manufacturing facilities in order to build redesigned, lighter and more economical cars.  That means new factories and new factory locations. …

 
It was in this economic context, fueled with talk of removal of its long‑established … manufacturing operations from the Detroit area and the construction of a new 3‑million‑ square‑foot plant in a sunbelt state, that in 1980 General Motors made its first overture to the City of Detroit about finding a suitable plant site in the city. … [T]he removal by General Motors of its Cadillac manufacturing operations to a more favorable economic climate would mean the loss to Detroit of at least 6,000 jobs as well as the concomitant loss of literally thousands of allied and supporting automotive design, manufacture and sales functions.  There would necessarily follow, as a result, the loss of millions of dollars in real estate and income tax revenues.  The darkening picture was made even bleaker by the … city's continuing loss of its industrial base and the decline of its population. …

 
Thus it was to a city with its economic back to the wall that General Motors presented its highly detailed “proposal” for construction of a new plant in a "green field" location in the City of Detroit.  … The corporation told the city that it must find or assemble a parcel 450 to 500 acres in size with access to long‑haul railroad lines and a freeway system with railroad marshalling yards within the plant site.  … Unquestionably cognizant of its immense political and economic power, General Motors also insisted that it must receive title to the assembled parcel by May 1, 1981.

 
In a most impressive demonstration of governmental efficiency, the City of Detroit set about its task of meeting General Motors' specifications.  Nine possible sites were identified and suggested to General Motors.  Only one was found adequate: a parcel consisting of 465 acres … that has come to be known as Central Industrial Park (CIP).

 
In July, 1980, the general outlines of the proposal to condemn property to meet General Motors' demands were submitted to the Detroit Common Council, which promptly approved the boundaries of CIP.  The city had already begun to purchase property in contemplation of CIP's establishment. … On September 30, 1980, the completed project plan was approved by the Detroit Economic Development Corporation.  Two weeks later a public hearing was held on the then proposed CIP and the next day, October 15, 1980, the Environmental Impact Statement was issued.  On October 29, 1980 the Detroit Community and Economic Development Department … sent a letter to the Detroit Common Council recommending that the council approve the project plan with suggested amendments…. Two days later, the council followed the recommendation, passed a resolution approving the project plan with minor modifications, and declared in the resolution “that said project constitutes a public purpose” and “is hereby determined to be for the use and benefit of the public”.  On November 3, 1980 the mayor of the City of Detroit signed the resolution.

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS
57.  Apply the “rational basis” test from Midkiff to the facts of Poletown.  Would the facts of Poletown constitute a public use under the reasoning of the Kelo majority?  Under the reasoning of Justice Kennedy’s concurrence?

58.  The Poletown majority found the actions of the City of Detroit to be a public use, repeatedly making two points that could be viewed as legal tests:

(a) The public was the ‘primary beneficiary” of the use of Eminent Domain and the private benefit to GM was merely “incidental;” and

(b) The public benefit was “clear and significant.”

Apply these two formulations to the facts of Kelo.  

59.  In overruling Poletown in Hatchcock, the Michigan Supreme Court articulates three “situations” in which property acquired through Eminent Domain can legitimately end up in private hands.  What is the justification for each situation?  Do the facts in Kelo fit into one or more of these situations?

60.  Explain the approach suggested by Professor Merrill described in note 5 (P196).  How would Kelo and Poletown be resolved under that approach? What are the strengths and weakness of that approach as compared to the others used in Kelo and in the Michigan cases?
61.  The Supreme Court has decided that “just compensation” means fair market value and not replacement cost.  What are the strongest arguments for and against this result?  Identify two hypothetical situations:  one that provides a relatively strong case for paying replacement cost and one that provides a relatively strong case against paying replacement cost.
62.  What is the difference between special and general benefits?  Can you identify a very clear example of each?  Should the difference matter? Why or why not? Why should the state be able to recover the value of special benefits only from landowners from whom it is taking some land?
( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (
REVIEW PROBLEMS

(A) The Texas legislature determines that the Texan virtues of Courage, Forthrightness and Moral Strength are disappearing, harming the welfare of the people of Texas.  It creates the Virtuous Texan Commission, which is empowered to choose three Texans each year who best embody the Texan Virtues.  The chosen Texans will be authorized to select private property in the state worth up to $500,000, which the state will purchase for them at market value.  Do these purchases violate the Public Use requirement?

(B) The Species Conservatory is a non-profit corporation that purchases land containing endangered species habitats and preserves the land in its natural state.  The public is not allowed access to these lands.  Only employees of the corporation may enter.  The state of Ecotopia wishes to use its Eminent Domain power to purchase several acres of land that constitutes a small part of the habitat of the endan​gered Mottled Moth and resell the land at market value to the Conservatory.  Would this purchase vi​olate the Public Use requirement?

(C) Santa Elisa is a sprawling city of 800,000 people. The city was losing revenue because many consumers who once shopped regularly at older shopping centers within the city limits were now primarily shopping at newer suburban malls.  

In response, the city set up a program called “Taking Action For Urban Revival & Improvement” (TAFURI).  Pursuant to TAFURI, developers submit plans to the city for the creation of new shopping/ residential complexes on the sites of the older shopping centers.  If the city council approves one of these plans, the city uses its eminent domain power to purchase the necessary land.  It then leases the land to the developer for a negotiated flat annual rental fee.  Thus, under TAFURI, the risk that the new complexes are unprofitable falls on the developers.  However, if the complexes are very successful, the developers can reap great profits. 

Under TAFURI, the city council approved a plan to purchase and replace the Ocean Crystal Shopping Center (OCSC), which had lost many of its customers when a new freeway rerouted traffic off the nearby streets. The owners of OCSC claim that the city’s use of Eminent Domain to purchase their property violates the Public Use Clause of the state constitution.  

(i) Assuming that the state in question followed the majority opinion in Poletown, identify facts in the problem that are different from those in Poletown and be prepared to argue whether those facts should affect the outcome.

(ii) Apply the legal standards from Poletown to the problem.

(iii) Apply the legal standards from Hatchcock to the problem
(D) Discuss whether the city may set off the benefits to Alex attributable to its elevated railroad system when it pays him compensation in the following scenario:  Alex owned an undeveloped four-acre parcel on the edge of the downtown area of the rapidly growing city of Whystrung.  When the city built an elevated railroad, it used its eminent domain power to condemn half of Alex’s parcel.  However, the remaining two acres increased in value because of the presence of a railroad station two blocks away.
(E) Longford is an old industrial city located in the state of Einstein.  The city has financial difficulties, in part because, for decades, wealthy and middle class residents have been moving out of the city into newer, more attractive suburbs.  The warehouse district in Longford contains a number of abandoned or barely used old factory and warehouse buildings.  

The Longford city council developed a plan called the Longford Urban Planning Opportunity Land Initiative (LUPOLI).  Under LUPOLI, the city would purchase a large section of the warehouse district through the use of its Eminent Domain power.  It then would divide up the area it had bought into twenty lots of four square blocks each and auction them off to developers who could choose to build rental property or condominiums, but who would have to limit the land to residential uses and to create a minimum number of units. The city hoped that the rapid creation of a large neighborhood of brand new residences would attract wealthy and middle class residents back into the urban core.

Brendan owns several neighboring lots located in the areas to be purchased under LUPOLI.  He would like to develop them as residential lots himself, but he cannot afford to bid on the large plots of land that the city will offer to developers under the plan.  When Longford began condemnation proceedings in state court against Brendan’s lots, he claimed that the use of the Eminent Domain power pursuant to LUPOLI violated the Public Use Clause of the Einstein state constitution.

In its opinion rejecting Brendan’s claim, the trial court correctly noted that the language of the state Public Use Clause was identical to that in the U.S. Constitution and that the courts of Einstein had never ruled on its meaning  The court thus argued that it should simply assume that the state standard was identical to the federal one and held that LUPOLI easily passed that test.

The state court of appeals reversed.  It stated that “it seems obvious” that the state Public Use clause should be read to prevent the use of Eminent Domain to place land entirely in the hands of private owners.  Because all the land at issue here would eventually be owned either by private residents or by private landlords, the court held that LUPOLI violated the state Public Use Clause. 

The Supreme Court of Einstein granted certiorari to decide what test the state should employ to interpret its Public Use Clause.  Write drafts of the analysis sections of both: 

(a) a majority opinion for the court, choosing a test, explaining that choice, and briefly discussing how it would apply to the facts of this case; and

(b) a shorter concurrence or dissent arguing that the state should apply a different test than the one adopted by the majority.  If you concur, you should argue that a different test should apply, even though the ultimate result under that test would be the same. If you dissent, you should argue that a different test should apply, and the ultimate result under that test would be different.

Chapter 4:  Adverse Possession
FLORIDA STATUTES:  LIMITATIONS OF ACTIONS;  ADVERSE POSSESSION

95.12. Real property actions.  No action to recover real property or its possession shall be maintained unless the person seeking recovery or the person's ancestor, predecessor, or grantor was seized or possessed of the property within 7 years before the commencement of the action.

95.13. Real property actions;  possession by legal owner  presumed.  In every action to recover real property or its possession, the person establishing legal title to the property shall be presumed to have been possessed of it within the time prescribed by law.  The occupation of the property by any other person shall be in subordination to the legal title unless the property was possessed adversely to the legal title for 7 years before the commencement of the action.

95.16. Real property actions;  adverse possession under color of title.

(1) When the occupant, or those under whom the occupant claims, entered into possession of real property under a claim of title exclusive of any other right, founding the claim on a written instrument as being a conveyance of the property, or on a decree or judgment, and has for 7 years been in continued possession of the property included in the instrument, decree, or judgment, the property is held adversely.  If the property is divided into lots, the possession of one lot shall not be deemed a possession of any other lot of the same tract.  Adverse possession commencing after December 31, 1945, shall not be deemed adverse possession under color of title until the instrument upon which the claim of title is founded is recorded in the office of the clerk of the circuit court of the county where the property is located.

(2) For the purpose of this section, property is deemed possessed in any of the following cases:

(a) When it has been usually cultivated or improved.

(b) When it has been protected by a substantial enclosure.  All land protected by the enclosure must be included within the description of the property in the written instrument, judgment, or decree.  If only a portion of the land protected by the enclosure is included within the description of the property in the written instrument, judgment, or decree, only that portion is deemed possessed.

(c) When, although not enclosed, it has been used for the supply of fuel or fencing timber for husbandry or for the ordinary use of the occupant.

(d) When a known lot or single farm has been partly improved, the part that has not been cleared or enclosed according to the usual custom of the county is to be considered as occupied for the same length of time as the part improved or cultivated.

95.18. Real property actions;  adverse possession without color of title.

(1) When the occupant or those under whom the occupant claims have been in actual continued occupation of real property for 7 years under a claim of title exclusive of any other right, but not founded on a written instrument, judgment, or decree, the property actually occupied shall be held adversely if the person claiming adverse possession made a return of the property by proper legal description to the property appraiser of the county where it is located within 1 year after entering into possession and has subsequently paid all taxes and matured installments of special improvement liens levied against the property by the state, county, and municipality.

(2) For the purpose of this section, property shall be deemed to be possessed in the following cases only:

(a) When it has been protected by substantial enclosure.

(b) When it has been usually cultivated or improved.

Pennsylvania Statutes of Limitations

42 Penn. Cons. Stat. §§5530, 5533  

§5530.  Twenty-one year limitation.  

(A) GENERAL RULE.-- The following actions and proceedings must be commenced within 21 years:

   (1) An action for the possession of real property.  …

(B) ENTRY UPON LAND.-- No entry upon real property shall toll the running of the period of limitation specified in subsection (a)(1), unless a possessory action shall be commenced therefor within one year after entry. Such an entry and commencement of a possessory action, without recovery therein, shall not toll the running of such period of limitation in respect of another possessory action, unless such other possessory action is commenced within one year after the termination of the first.

§ 5533.  Infancy, insanity or imprisonment  

(A) GENERAL RULE. --Except as otherwise provided by statute, insanity or imprisonment does not extend the time limited by this subchapter for the commencement of a matter.

(B) INFANCY. --If an individual entitled to bring a civil action is an unemancipated minor at the time the cause of action accrues, the period of minority shall not be deemed a portion of the time period within which the action must be commenced. Such person shall have the same time for commencing an action after attaining majority as is allowed to others by the provisions of this subchapter. As used in this subsection the term "minor" shall mean any individual who has not yet attained the age of 18.
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Overview of Adverse Possession Doctrine

Nature of the Doctrine
Adverse Possession is a doctrine that allows people who use an otherwise unused parcel of land for a sufficient amount of time to become the legal owners of the land regardless of the strength of their claim to the land at the time they took possession of it.  The doctrine obviously is a severe limitation of the owner’s right to exclude third parties; it means that if the right to exclude is not asserted quickly enough, the owner can lose ownership of the land entirely.  Despite its extreme appearance, Adverse Possession has been a part of Anglo-American Property Law for centuries.  As you review the materials in this section, consider the possible rationales for Adverse Possession and whether you think they justify the doctrine in whole or in part.

All American jurisdictions limit the amount of time a person has to bring civil lawsuits for personal injuries, breaches of contract and interference with property rights.  These limits are contained in statutes known as “statutes of limitations.”  Thus, if you are injured in an automobile accident and wish to obtain damages from the other party, you must bring suit within the time specified by the relevant statute of limitations (often two years for tort suits).  



If a person moves onto land you own without your permission and refuses to leave, you would bring an action for “ejectment,” and, if successful, you would obtain a court order ordering the trespasser off your land.  Every state has a statute of limitations for ejectment actions that limits the amount of time you have to bring the lawsuit to clear your land.  In practice, these statutes of limitations only are invoked if the non-owner in possession of your land meets a set of rigorous requirements that have developed mainly through caselaw.  The resulting interaction of the statute of limitations and the court-created requirements constitutes the doctrine of “Adverse Possession.”  If the non-owner (“adverse possessor”) successfully meets the requirements of the doctrine, he or she will become the legal owner of the land in question.



Adverse Possession claims usually arise in one of two different legal contexts.  First, the legal owner of the property might bring an ejectment action to evict the adverse possessor, who then raises the doctrine as a defense to the action (“You do not have the right to eject me because I have adversely possessed the land and am the true owner.”).  Second, people who believe they have met the requirements for adverse possession can bring a lawsuit known as a “Quiet Title” action, in which the court is asked to declare who the legal owner of the land is, thus “quieting” any dispute as to ownership.



The requirements for Adverse Possession vary greatly from state to state. The period of time listed in the various statutes of limitations ranges (at least) from five to thirty years.  In addition, each state has a slightly different list of requirements that a successful adverse possessor must meet.  Moreover, each state has its own cases (and sometimes statutes) interpreting the list of requirements.  This area of law is made even more confusing to grasp because some states use different terms to refer to the same requirement and some states use the same language to refer to different requirements.  An outline describing the typical set of requirements is laid out below.  The names given to the elements are those used most commonly (although not in every jurisdiction). However, even states that use different terminology incorporate into their rules each of the kinds of evidence described as the focus of the elements named below. 

The Elements of Adverse Possession 

1.  “Actual Use” (Nature of the Adverse Possessor’s Activities on the Claimed Land) 


A.
Physical possession or entry required



i) Enough to create a cause of action for trespass



ii) Generally must be substantial & leave physical evidence



iii) FL: need actual entry:  “overt physical acts of possession"


B.
Jurisdictions employ different tests



i) E.g., “use the way an average owner would use”



ii) E.g., “use ordinary or appropriate for the type of property claimed” 



iii) PA: “depends on the facts of each case and to a large extent on the character 



of the premises”

iv) Some states require cultivation, enclosure, residence or improvements 


(a) CA: Fence or other enclosure must be “substantial and … kept in good 
repair.”


(b) “Improvements” here means constructing something or making large structural repairs, not merely making the lot look better.


C.  Examples of Insufficient Use from Witkin, Summary of California Law (9th ed.).


i) Klein v. Caswell (Cal. App. 1948):  “Many weekend/holiday visits for picnics 



and occasional camping not enough for a site where the ordinary use would 



have been to build a cabin.”  


ii) Madson v. Cohn  (Cal.  App. 1932): “Visiting an unfenced city lot ‘four to six 



times a year and during one year had planted a few bushes and trees and 



cleaned out weeds.’” 
2.  “Open and Notorious” (Notice to the Owner of Adverse Possessor’s Activities)

A.
Requires activity sufficient to make owner aware of adverse possessor’s use of contested lot.


i) Note that this doesn’t mean owner must actually be aware


ii) Common legal distinction:  “Notice” v. “Knowledge”



(a) “Notice”:  Acts such that someone should be aware



(b) “Knowledge”: Person is in fact aware

B.
Tests

i) Common test:  “Is use by the possessor visible to a person on the surface 
of the possessed land”

ii) FL/PA: conduct sufficient to put a “reasonable person” (PA) or a person “of ordinary prudence” (FL) on notice that his or her land is being held by the claimant as his own


C.
Meeting the tests



i) Very few kinds of actual use fail these tests




(a) See Marengo



(b) Only under cover of dark: maybe not 

(c) 1 case: activities on wild, overgrown, little used patch, not visible from highway meets test.  Even casual inspection of property line would reveal encroachment.

ii) Some states also will find this requirement met based on other forms of notice to the community.  For example




(a) Possessor’s reputation as owner




(b) Public records that show possessor owns
3.  “Exclusive” (Lack of Activity by the Owner or the Public on the Claimed Land)

A.
Use by the owner during the period the possessor is trying to meet the statutory requirements means the possessor has to start counting the statute of limitations period again.



i)  Unclear how significant the owner's "use" must be.

ii) 1 case: owner's use of a narrow strip on the property to store construction materials for 3 weeks defeated the possessor's claim.
iii) Miller v. Doheny (Cal. App. 1921): “The original owner owned two adjoining lots, one of which was being adversely possessed.  The house on the adjoining lot had eaves that stuck out over the lot that was being claimed through adverse possession.  The court held that ‘the adverse possessor did not get title to the strip over which the eaves projected; the true owner was never out of possession of that part.’” Witkin, Summary of California Law (9th ed.).
B.
In some states, use of the land by the public in way that suggests a general public right (e.g., as a public beach) defeats individual adverse possession claims

i) However exclusivity need not be any more absolute than would be expected of an ordinary owner

ii) E.g., PA: occasional unobserved trespasses by members of public did not mean possession was not exclusive.  

C. “Exclusive” does not mean that only one person can adversely possess.  Two or more people can adversely possess together, and receive some form of joint ownership at the end

4.  “Continuous” (Duration of the Adverse Possessor’s Activities)

A.
Must meet all elements without a significant interruption for the statutory limitations period


i) Interruption can be either




(a) Lapse by possessor OR

(b) Act by owner that amounts to resumption of possession (see “exclusive”)



ii) What interruptions are significant?




(a) If lapse by possessor, depends on normal use of property




(b) PA: temporary break OK if “not of unreasonable duration”

(c) If interruption by owner, in FL length irrelevant

B.
“Tacking”:  adding activities of successive possessors or successive owners to make up whole statutory period



i) Can “tack” possessors if “privity” (legal connection)




(a) Intestate succession




(b) Grant through a will




(c) Gift or sale



ii) Can “tack” successive owners

iii) Example: Statutory period is seven years. In 1970, Fred begins adverse possession of property owned by Harold.  In 1975, Fred dies, leaving all his rights to Greta, who continues to adversely possess the property.  In 1976, Harold sells the property to Jane.  Assuming all other requirements have been met, in 1977, Greta will get title, even though she has only held the property for 2 years, and has only held against Jane for 1 year.  Fred's possession is tacked onto Greta's and Harold's ownership is tacked onto Jane's.

5.  “Hostile” or “Adverse” (Lack of Permission from the Owner)


A.  Use with permission of the owner does not constitute adverse possession. 



i) Owner’s knowledge of possessor not equal to permission

 

ii) Unexplained possession presumed hostile in some states. 



iii) PA: If other elements met, hostility presumed

B.
If possessor has consent at first, must take steps to repudiate permission in order to make adverse possession claim.  (E.g., “Dear Floyd, I know you gave me permission to use your ski cabin but I have decided that I like it a lot and it is too good for you.  Thus, I am taking it for myself.  Love, Emily.).

6.  State of Mind of the Adverse Possessor

A.
Jurisdictions vary as to the state of mind they require of the adverse possessor



i) Most states:  irrelevant



ii) Some:  Must believe self to be true owner



iii) Some:  Need to know property is not yours

B.
Terminology

i) In most states “adverse” or “hostile” refers to permission from owner and not to possessor’s state of mind

ii) Some states use these terms to refer to state of mind

iii) Some states use “claim of right” to refer to state of mind

(a) Typical definition: possessor must indicate he holds the property against the whole world including the true owner.  




(b) May just mean use is of character owner would make.  




(c) Some states use to mean intent to adversely possess

Other Recurring Issues in Adverse Possession Doctrine

1.
Color of Title


A.
Document purporting to give title but giving none



i) Usually defective deed or will



ii) Generally holder has to have good faith belief in validity of document


B.
NOT an element of adverse possession, but can reduce burden of proof on one 

claiming adverse possession in a variety of ways:



i) Shorter statute of limitations



ii) Less burdensome requirements




(a) Fl. Statute: easier to show "actual use"




(b) Others: presumption of "hostile"

iii) Allows “constructive” adverse possession of whole parcel described in document from use of a part.




(a) Normally, can only adversely possess what you actually use

(b) If, e.g., you have an invalid deed giving you all of a 20-acre lot, but you only really use 10 acres, the court can find constructive adverse possession of the rest.

2.
Burdens of Proof/Negative Presumptions


A.
Adverse possessors generally disfavored by courts


B.  Some states: Need “clear and convincing” evidence to win 



i) More than “preponderance of evidence” (usual civil case)



ii) Less than “beyond a reasonable doubt” (criminal case)


C.
Some states: Any doubts resolved in favor of legal owner 

3.
Payment of Taxes by the Adverse Possessor


A.
Usually required by short statutes, esp. if no color of title (see Fl. & Calif.)


B.
Not part of long statutes


C.
Generally irrelevant if owner also paying taxes

4.
Exceptions 
A. Adverse possession won't run in many states against non-possessory interests (e.g., landlords; holders of future interests)


B.  Adverse possession won't run against the government in most states.

C. If owner is in a category of persons who would have trouble enforcing rights, some states will not allow statute of limitations to run during the "disability" if it exists when the possessor first enters possession.

i) E.g., minority, insanity, imprisoned, out-of-state, military

ii) See Pennsylvania Statute 
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VAN VALKENBURGH v. LUTZ
106 N.E.2d 28 (N.Y. 1952)

Prologuea: Shortly after their marriage in 1912, Mary and William Lutz bought at auction two wooded lots in Yonkers, a suburb of New York, taking title in the husband’s name. The lots, numbered 14 and 15, were situated high on a hill above Leroy Avenue, at the time an unimproved “paper” street. To the west was a wooded triangular tract – consisting of lots 19, 20, 21, and 22 – the ownership of which is at issue in this case. … Instead of climbing the steep grade from Leroy Avenue to reach lots 14 and 15, the Lutzes found it easier to cross the triangular tract which they did not own; Lutz cleared a “traveled way” near the northern boundary of the tract to reach Gibson Place on the west.

With the help of his brother Charlie and his wife Mary, William Lutz cleared lots 14 and 15 and built a house for his family on them. The Lutzes also partially cleared the triangular tract and built for Charlie a one-room structure on lot 19. By 1920 the buildings were occupied. In 1921 Mary’s fifth and last child was born to her in the main house.

In 1928, the city graded Leroy Avenue and broke the private water line leading to the main Lutz house. Lutz, who was working in New York City at the time, went home to repair it. As a result, he lost his job; thereafter Lutz stayed home tending a garden on the triangular property, selling vegetables, and doing odd jobs for neighbors. The Lutz children grew up, and all except the youngest son, Eugene,  moved away.

In 1937, Joseph and Marion Van Valkenburgh bought lots west of Gibson Place and built a new home there. Some nine years later, in 1946, bad blood developed between the Lutzes and the Van Valkenburghs. In April of that year, Mary Lutz was annoyed by the presence of the Van Valkenburgh children in her garden, and she called her husband over. The Van Valkenburgh children ran home, Lutz behind them brandishing an iron pipe and crying, “I’ll kill you.”  Van Valkenburgh then appeared and began a heated argument with Lutz. He subsequently swore out a complaint of criminal assault, and Lutz was arrested, jailed, then released on bail.

A year later, in April 1947, the Van Valkenburghs bought lots 19,20, 21, and 22 from the City of Yonkers at a foreclosure sale for nonpayment of taxes; no personal notice of the proceedings was given the Lutzes. The purchase price was $379.50. On the following July 6, Van Valkenburgh, accompanied by two policemen, visited the triangular tract and, in his words, “took possession” of it. He called to Mrs. Lutz to come out of her house and told her that the Lutzes were to clear from the property all buildings that belonged to them. On July 8 the Van Valkenburghs’ attorney sent Lutz a registered letter informing him that the triangular tract was now owned by the Van Valkenburghs and that he should remove any of his property from the land. A few days later Lutz went to see the attorney and told him he wanted proof of the Van Valkenburghs’ ownership and time to harvest his vegetable crop. Then, on July 13, Lutz failed to appear for the trial on the charge of criminal assault, for which he had been arrested a year earlier. A bench warrant was issued, and Lutz was again arrested, jailed, and released on bail. Subsequently he was convicted of criminal assault.

In the meantime Van Valkenburgh had the property surveyed. In response to another letter from the Van Valkenburghs’ attorney, Lutz returned to the attorney’s office on July 21, this time accompanied by his own lawyer. At this meeting Lutz agreed to remove his sheds, junk, and garden within thirty days, but he claimed a prescriptive rightb to use the traveled way to reach his property. Lutz then removed the chicken coops and junk. Shortly thereafter the Van Valkenburghs invited legal action by erecting a fence across the traveled way that Lutz claimed a right to use. Lutz joined battle by bringing an action against the Van Valkenburghs to enjoin them from interfering with his right of way. In the suit Lutz alleged that Marion Van Valkenburghs was the owner of the property, but that Lutz had a right of way over it. In January 1948 the trial court handed down a judgment in Lutz’s favor, awarding him a right of way over the traveled way; this judgment was affirmed in June 1948.

The action in this case was commenced against the Lutzes on April 8, 1948. Perhaps realizing the blunder made in the prior lawsuit (the admission that Marion Van Valkenburgh owned lots 19--22), Lutz fired his Yonkers lawyer and hired one from Wall street. Not to be outdone, the Van Valkenburghs also sought out and employed a Wall Street firm. In August 1948, William Lutz died, devising all his property to his wife Mary. The Van Valkenburghs’ suit was tried in June 1950. The testimony in the case totaled some 250 pages, and in addition there were 56 exhibits consisting of deeds, surveys, and photographs. Several neighbors who had lived in the area a long time testified for the Lutzes. Not one testified for the Van Valkenburghs, who lost in the trial court and appealed.

DYE, Judge:
… To acquire title to real property by adverse possession not founded upon a written instrument, it must be shown by clear and convincing proof that for at least fifteen years (formerly twenty years) there was an 'actual' occupation under a claim of title, for it is only the premises so actually occupied 'and no others' that are deemed to have been held adversely.  Civil Practice Act, §§34, 38, 39.  The essential elements of proof being either that the premises (1) are protected by a substantial inclosure, or are (2) usually cultivated or improved.  Civil Practice Act, §40.c
 
Concededly, there is no proof here that the subject premises were “protected by a substantial inclosure” which leaves for consideration only whether there is evidence showing that the premises were cultivated or improved sufficiently to satisfy the statute.

 
We think not.  The proof concededly fails to show that the cultivation incident to the garden utilized the whole of the premises claimed.  Such lack may not be supplied by inference on the showing that the cultivation of a smaller area, whose boundaries are neither defined nor its location fixed with certainty, “must have been … substantial” as several neighbors were “supplied … with vegetables”.  This introduces an element of speculation and surmise which may not be considered since the statute clearly limits the premises adversely held to those “actually” occupied “and no others,” Civil Practice Act  §39, which we have recently interpreted as requiring definition by clear and positive proof.  


Furthermore, on this record, the proof fails to show that the premises were improved.  According to the proof the small shed or shack (about 5 by 10 1/2 feet) …  was located on the subject premises about 14 feet from the Lutz boundary line. This was built in about the year 1923 and, as Lutz himself testified, he knew at the time it was not on his land and, his wife … also testified to the same effect.

 
The statute requires as an essential element of proof, recognized as fundamental on the concept of adversity since ancient times, that the occupation of premises be “'under a claim of title,” Civil Practice Act §39, in other words, hostile, and when lacking will not operate to bar the legal title, no matter how long the occupation may have continued.  

 
Similarly, the garage encroachment, extending a few inches over the boundary line, fails to supply proof of occupation by improvement.  Lutz himself testified that when he built the garage he had no survey and thought he was getting it on his own property, which certainly falls short of establishing that he did it under a claim of title hostile to the true owner.  The other acts committed by Lutz over the years, such as placing a portable chicken coop on the premises which he moved about, the cutting of brush and some of the trees, and the littering of the property with odds and ends of salvaged building materials, cast‑off items of house furnishings and parts of automobiles which the defendants and their witnesses described as “personal belongings”, “junk”, “rubbish” and “debris”, were acts which under no stretch of the imagination could be deemed an occupation by improvement within the meaning of the statute, and which, of course, are of no avail in establishing adverse possession.

 
We are also persuaded that the defendant's subsequent words and conduct confirms the view that his occupation was not “under a claim of title.”  When the defendant had the opportunity to declare his hostility and assert his rights against the true owner, he voluntarily chose to concede that the plaintiffs’ legal title conferred actual ownership entitling them to the possession of these and other premises in order to provide a basis for establishing defendant's right to an easement by adverse possession the use of a well‑defined 'traveled way' that crossed the said premises.  In that action, William Lutz … chose to litigate the issue of title and possession and, having succeeded in establishing his claim of easement by adverse possession, he may not now disavow the effect of his favorable judgment, or prevent its use as evidence to show his prior intent.  Declarations against interest made by a prescriptive tenant are always available on the issue of his intent. 6 Wigmore on Evidence, §1778. …

 
The judgments should be reversed … and judgment directed to be entered in favor of plaintiff Joseph D. Van Valkenburgh …. 

FULD, Judge (dissenting): 
In my Judgment, the weight of evidence lies with the determination made by the court at Special Term and affirmed by the Appellate Division.  But whether that is so or not, there can be no doubt whatsoever that the record contains some evidence that the premises here involved were occupied by William Lutz, defendant's late husband, for fifteen years under a claim of title and that, of course, should compel an affirmance.

 
… 
Wild and overgrown when the Lutzes first moved into the neighborhood [in 1912] , the property was cleared by defendant's husband and had been, by 1916, the referee found, developed into a truck farm “of substantial size”.  Lutz, together with his children, worked the farm continuously until his death in 1948; indeed, after 1928, he had no other employment.  Each year, a new crop was planted and the harvest of vegetables was sold to neighbors.  Lutz also raised chickens on the premises, and constructed coops or sheds for them. Fruit trees were planted, and timber was cut from that portion of the property not used for the farm.  On one of the lots, Lutz in 1920 built a one‑room dwelling, in which his brother Charles has lived ever since.

 
Although disputing the referee's finding that the dimensions of Lutz's farm were substantial, the court's opinion fails to remark the plentiful evidence in support thereof.  For instance, there is credible testimony in the record that “nearly all” of the property comprised by the four lots was cultivated during the period to which the referee's finding relates.  A survey introduced in evidence indicates the very considerable extent to which the property was cultivated in 1950, and many witnesses testified that the farm was no larger at that time than it had ever been.  There is evidence, moreover, that the cultivated area extended from the “traveled way” on one side of the property to a row of logs and brush placed by Lutz for the express purpose of marking the farm's boundary at the opposite and of the premises.

 
According to defendant's testimony, she and her husband, knowing that they did not have record title to the premises, intended from the first nevertheless to occupy the property as their own.  Bearing this out is the fact that Lutz put down the row of logs and brush, which was over 100 feet in length, to mark the southwestern boundary of his farm; this marker, only roughly approximating the lot lines, extended beyond them into the bed of Gibson Place.  The property was, moreover, known in the neighborhood as “Mr. Lutz's gardens”, and the one‑room dwelling on it as “Charlie's house”; the evidence clearly indicates that people living in the vicinity believed the property to be owned by Lutz.  And it is undisputed that for upwards of thirty‑five years until 1947, when plaintiffs became the record owners no other person ever asserted title to the parcel.

 
With evidence such as that in the record, I am at a loss to understand how this court can say that support is lacking for the finding that the premises had been occupied by Lutz under a claim of title.  The referee was fully justified in concluding that the character of Lutz's possession was akin to that of a true owner and indicated, more dramatically and effectively than could words, an intent to claim the property as his own. … That Lutz knew that he did not have the record title to the property a circumstance relied upon by the court is of no consequence, so long as he intended, notwithstanding that fact, to acquire and use the property as his own.  As we stated in Ramapo Mfg. Co. v. Mapes, 110 N.E. 772, 775, “the bona fides of the claim of the occupant is not essential, and it will not excuse the negligence of the owner in forbearing to bring his action until after the time in the statute of limitations shall have run against him to show that the defendant knew all along that he was in the wrong.”

 
Quite obviously, the fact that Lutz alleged in the 1947 easement action twelve years after title had, according to the referee, vested in him through adverse possession that one of the plaintiffs was the owner of three of the lots, simply constituted evidence pointing the other way, to be weighed with the other proof by the courts below.  While it is true that a disclaimer of title by the occupant of property, made before the statutory period has run, indelibly stamps his possession as nonadverse and prevents title from vesting in him, a disclaimer made after the statute has run carries with it totally different legal consequences.  Once title has vested by virtue of adverse possession, it is elementary that it may be divested, not by an oral disclaimer, but only by a transfer complying with the formalities prescribed by law. Hence, an oral acknowledgment of title in another, made after the statutory period is alleged to have run, “'is only evidence tending to show the character of the previous possession.”  Smith v. Vermont Marble Co., 99 Vt. 384, 394.  Here, Official Referee Close, of the opinion that the 1947 admission was made by Lutz under the erroneous advice of his attorney, chose to rest his decision rather on evidence of Lutz's numerous and continual acts of dominion over the property proof of a most persuasive character.  Even if we were to feel that the referee was mistaken in so weighing the evidence, we would be powerless, to change the determination, where, as we have seen, there is some evidence in the record to support his conclusion.

 
In view of the extensive cultivation of the parcel in suit, there is no substance to the argument that the requirements of sections 39 and 40 of the Civil Practice Act were not met.  Under those provisions, only the premises “actually occupied” in the manner prescribed that is, “protected by a substantial inclosure” or “usually cultivated or improved” are deemed to have been held adversely.  The object of the statute, we have recognized, “is that the real owner may, by unequivocal acts of the usurper, have notice of the hostile claim, and be thereby called upon to assert his legal title.” Monnot v. Murphy, 100 N.E. 742, 743. Since the character of the acts sufficient to afford such notice “depends upon the nature and situation of the property and the uses to which it can be applied”, it is settled that the provisions of sections 39 and 40 are to be construed, not in a narrow or technical sense, but with reference to the nature, character, condition, and location of the property under consideration.  

 
Judge Dye considers it significant that the proof “fails to show that the cultivation incident to the garden utilized the whole of the premises claimed.” There surely is no requirement in either statute or decision that proof of adverse possession depends upon cultivation of “the whole” plot or of every foot of the property in question.  And, indeed, the statute which, as noted, reads “usually cultivated or improved” has been construed to mean only that the claimant’s occupation must “consist of acts such as are usual in the ordinary cultivation and improvement of similar lands by thrifty owners.” Ramapo Mfg. Co., supra, 110 N.E. at 776.  The evidence demonstrates that by far the greater part of the four lots was regularly and continuously used for farming, and, that being so, the fact that a portion of the property was not cleared should not affect the claimant's ability to acquire title by adverse possession: any frugal person, owning and occupying lands similar to those here involved, would have permitted, as Lutz did, some of the trees to stand while clearing the bulk of the property in order to provide a source of lumber and other tree products for his usual needs.  The portion of the property held subservient to the part actively cultivated is as much “occupied” as the portion actually tilled.  The nature of the cultivation engaged in by Lutz was more than adequate, as his neighbors' testimony establishes, to give the owner notice of an adverse claim and to delimit the property to which the claim related….  

 
In short, there is ample evidence to sustain the finding that William Lutz actually occupied the property in suit for over fifteen years under a claim of title.  Since, then, title vested in Lutz by 1935, the judgment must be affirmed. … 

Epilogue: Litigation between the Van Valkenburghs and the Lutzes did not end with the principal case. William Lutz’s brother Charlie was mentally incompetent; after the principal case, Eugene was appointed as his guardian. Charlie had not been a party to the prior proceedings, so he was in position to contest them. Through his guardian he brought an action against the Van Valkenburghs to enjoin removal of  “his” house from lot 19. Charlie claimed that he and his brother William had constructed the house over 20 years earlier and that when this house was being constructed he believed he was building it on William’s land. He further claimed that, since 1917, he had been in possession of the house as the tenant of William, the owner, and that he paid rent to William for the house. This lawsuit wound its way up and down the courts until 1968, when the Court of Appeals unanimously ruled for the Van Valkenburghs on the ground that Charlie’s occupation was not under a claim of title. By this time Charlie was well into his eighties.

Eugene Lutz and his wife lived in the Lutz house [at least through 1998]. The traveled way, bounded by a tall chain link fence, and the house [were] guarded by two ferocious dogs, whose menacing bark [warned] strangers away. The Van Valkenburghs are dead. The triangular tract – the subject of this bitter dispute between neighbors – was  owned by a churc [as of 1998]. 

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (
MARENGO CAVE CO.  v.  ROSS.
212 Ind. 624, 10 N.E.2d 917 (1937)

ROLL, Judge:  Appellee and appellant were the owners of adjoining land in Crawford County, Ind.  On appellant's land was located the opening to a subterranean cavity known as “Marengo Cave.”  This cave extended under a considerable portion of appellant's land, and the southeastern portion thereof extended under lands owned by appellee.  This action arose out of a dispute as to the ownership of that part of the cave that extended under appellee's land. Appellant was claiming title to all the cave … including that portion underlying appellee's land.  Appellee instituted this action to quiet his title … There was a trial by jury which returned a verdict for the appellee. … Appellant assigns as grounds for a new trial that the verdict of the jury is not sustained by sufficient evidence, and is contrary to law. … 

 
In 1883 one Stewart owned the real estate now owned by appellant, and in September of that year some young people who were upon that land discovered what afterwards proved to be the entrance to the cavern since known as Marengo Cave, this entrance being approximately 700 feet from the boundary line between the lands now owned by appellant and appellee, and the only entrance to said cave. Within a week after discovery of the cave, it was explored, and the fact of its existence received wide publicity through newspaper articles, and otherwise. Shortly thereafter the then owner of the real estate upon which the entrance was located took complete possession of the entire cave as now occupied by appellant and used for exhibition purposes, and began to charge an admission fee to those who desired to enter and view the cave, and to exclude therefrom those who were unwilling to pay for admission.  This practice continued from 1883 … and during the following years the successive owners of the land upon which the entrance to the cave was located, advertised the existence of said cave through newspapers, magazines, posters, and otherwise, in order to attract visitors thereto; also made improvements within the cave, including the building of concrete walks, and concrete steps where there was a difference in elevation of said cavern, widened and heightened portions of passageways; had available and furnished guides, all in order to make the cave more easily accessible to visitors desiring to view the same; and continuously, during all this time, without asking or obtaining consent from any one, but claiming a right so to do, held and possessed said subterranean passages constituting said cave, excluding therefrom the 'whole world,' except such persons as entered after paying admission for the privilege of so doing, or by permission.

 
Appellee has lived in the vicinity of said cave since 1903, and purchased the real estate which he now owns in 1908.  He first visited the cave in 1895, paying an admission fee for the privilege, and has visited said cave several times since.  He has never, at any time, occupied or been in possession of any of the subterranean passages or cavities of which the cave consists, and the possession and use of the cave by those who have done so has never interfered with his use and enjoyment of the lands owned by him.  For a period of approximately 25 years prior to the time appellee purchased his land, and for a period of 21 years afterwards, exclusive possession of the cave has been held by appellant, its immediate and remote grantors.

 
The cave, as such, has never been listed for taxation separately from the real estate wherein it is located, and the owners of the respective tracts of land have paid the taxes assessed against said tracts.

 
A part of said cave at the time of its discovery and exploration extended beneath real estate now owned by appellee, but this fact was not ascertained until the year 1932, when the boundary line between the respective tracts through the cave was established by means of a survey made by a civil engineer pursuant to an order of court entered in this cause.  Previous to this survey neither of the parties to this appeal, nor any of their predecessors in title, knew that any part of the cave was in fact beneath the surface of a portion of the land now owned by appellee.  Possession of the cave was taken and held by appellant's remote and immediate grantors, improvements made, and control exercised, with the belief on the part of such grantors that the entire cave as it was explored and held was under the surface of lands owned by them. There is no evidence of and dispute as to ownership of the cave, or any portion thereof, prior to the time when in 1929 appellee requested a survey, which was approximately 46 years after discovery of the cave and the exercise of complete dominion thereover by appellant and its predecessors in title. 

 
It is appellant's contention that it has a fee‑simple title to all of the cave; that it owns that part underlying appellee's land by adverse possession.  [The relevant Indiana statute] provides…:  

The following actions shall be commenced within the periods herein prescribed after the cause of action has accrued, and not afterward:  

… Sixth.  Upon contracts in writing other than those for the payment of money, on judgments of courts of record, and for the recovery of the possession of real estate, within twenty (20) years.

 
It will be noted that appellee nor his predecessors in title had never effected a severance of the cave from the surface estate.  Therefore the title of the appellee extends from the surface to the center but actual possession is confined to the surface.  Appellee and his immediate and remote grantors have been in possession of the land and estate here in question at all times, unless it can be said that the possession of the cave by appellant as shown by the evidence above set out has met all the requirements of the law relating to the acquisition of land by adverse possession.  A record title may be defeated by adverse possession.  All the authorities agree that, before the owner of the legal title can be deprived of his land by another's possession, through the operation of the statute of limitation, the possession must have been actual, visible, notorious, exclusive, under claim of ownership and hostile to the owner of the legal title and to the world at large (except only the government), and continuous for the full period prescribed by the statute.  The rule is not always stated in exactly the same words in the many cases dealing with the subject of adverse possession, yet the rule is so thoroughly settled that there is no doubt as to what elements are essential to establish a title by adverse possession. Let us … apply them to the facts that are established by the undisputed facts in this case.

(1)  The possession must be actual.  It must be conceded that appellant in the operation of the “Marengo Cave” used not only the cavern under its own land but also that part of the cavern that underlaid appellee's land, and assumed dominion over all of it.  Yet it must also be conceded that during all of the time appellee was in constructive possession, as the only constructive possession known to the law is that which inheres in the legal title and with which the owner of that title is always endowed. Whether the possession was actual under the peculiar facts in this case we need not decide.

(2)  The possession must be visible.  The owner of land who, having notice of the fact that it is occupied by another who is claiming dominion over it, nevertheless stands by during the entire statutory period and makes no effort to eject the claimant or otherwise protect his title, ought not to be permitted, for reasons of public policy, thereafter to maintain an action for the recovery of his land.  But, the authorities assert, in order that the possession of the occupying claimant may constitute notice in law, it must be visible and open to the common observer so that the owner or his agent on visiting the premises might readily see that the owner's rights are being invaded. 


What constitutes open and visible possession has been stated in general terms, thus; it is necessary and sufficient if its nature and character is such as is calculated to apprise the world that the land is occupied and who the occupant is; and such an appropriation of the land by claimant as to apprise, or convey visible notice to the community or neighborhood in which it is situated that it is in his exclusive use and enjoyment. It has been declared that the disseisor “must unfurl his flag” on the land, and “keep it flying,” so that the owner may see, if he will, that an enemy has invaded his domains, and planted the standard of conquest.  

(3)  The possession must be open and notorious.  The mere possession of the land is not enough.  It is knowledge, either actual or imputed, of the possession of his lands by another, claiming to own them bona fide and openly, that affects the legal owner thereof.  Where there has been no actual notice, it is necessary to show that the possession of the disseisor was so open, notorious, and visible as to warrant the inference that the owner must or should have known of it.  In Philbin v. Carr (1920) 75 Ind.App. 560, 129 N.E. 19, 29, 706, it was said: 

However, in order that the possession of the occupying claimant may constitute notice in law, it must be visible and open to the common observer so that the owner or his agent on visiting the premises might readily see that the owner's rights are being invaded.  In accordance with the general rule applicable to the subject of constructive notice, before possession can operate as such notice, it must be clear and unequivocal.  


And again, the possession must be notorious.   It must be so conspicuous that it is generally known and talked of by the public. “It must be manifest to the community.”  Thus, the Appellate Court said in Philbin that:  

Where the persons who have passed frequently over and along the premises have been unable to see any evidence of occupancy, evidently the possession has not been of the character required by the rule.  The purpose of this requirement is to support the principle that a legal title will not be extinguished on flimsy and uncertain evidence.  Hence, where there has been no actual notice, the possession must have been so notorious as to warrant the inference that the owner ought to have known that a stranger was asserting dominion over his land.  Insidious, desultory, and fugitive acts will not serve that purpose.  To have that effect the possession should be clear and satisfactory, not doubtful and equivocal.  

(4)  The possession must be exclusive.  It is evident that two or more persons cannot hold one tract of land adversely to each other at the same time.  “It is essential that the possession of one who claims adversely must be of such an exclusive character that it will operate as an ouster of the owner of the legal title….” Philbin.


The facts as set out above show that appellee and his predecessors in title have been in actual and continuous possession of his real estate since the cave was discovered in 1883.  At no time were they aware that any one was trespassing upon their land.  No one was claiming to be in possession of appellee's land.  It is true that appellant was asserting possession of the “Marengo Cave.”  There would seem to be quite a difference in making claim to the “Marengo Cave,” and making claim to a portion of appellee's land, even though a portion of the cave extended under appellee's land, when this latter fact was unknown to any one.  The evidence on both sides of this case is to the effect that the “Marengo Cave” was thought to be altogether under the land owned by appellant, and this erroneous supposition was not revealed until a survey was made at the request of appellee and ordered by the court in this case.  It seems to us that the following excerpt from Lewey v. H. C. Frick Coke Co. (1895) 166 Pa. 536, 31 A. 261, 263, 28 L.R.A. 283, 45 Am.St.Rep. 684, is peculiarly applicable to the situation here presented, inasmuch as we are dealing with an underground cavity.  It was stated in the above case:

The title of the plaintiff extends from the surface to the center, but actual possession is confined to the surface.  Upon the surface he must be held to know all that the most careful observation by himself and his employes could reveal, unless his ignorance is induced by the fraudulent conduct of the wrongdoer. But in the coal veins, deep down in the earth, he cannot see. Neither in person nor by his servants nor employes can he explore their recesses in seach for an intruder.  If an adjoining owner goes beyond his own boundaries in the course of his mining operations, the owner on whom he enters has no means of knowledge within his reach.  Nothing short of an accurate survey of the interior of his neighbor's mines would enable him to ascertain the fact.  This would require the services of a competent mining engineer and his assistants, inside the mines of another, which he would have no right to insist upon.  To require an owner, under such circumstances, to take notice of a trespass upon his underlying coal at the time it takes place, is to require an impossibility; and to hold that the statute begins to run at the date of the trespass is in most cases to take away the remedy of the injured party before he can know that an injury has been done him.  A result so absurd and so unjust ought not to be possible. …  He cannot reasonably be required to act until knowledge that action is needed is possible to him.


We are not persuaded that this case falls within the rule of mistaken boundary as announced in Rennert v. Shirk (1904) 163 Ind. 542, 72 N.E. 546, 549, wherein this court said:  

… In this state, when an owner of land, by mistake as to the boundary line of his land, takes actual, visible, and exclusive possession of another's land, and holds it as his own continuously for the statutory period of 20 years, he thereby acquires the title as against the real owner.  The possession is regarded as adverse, without reference to the fact that it is based on mistake; it being prima facie sufficient that actual, visible, and exclusive possession is taken under a claim of right.

 
The reason for the above rule is obvious.   Under such circumstances appellant was in possession of the necessary means of ascertaining the true boundary line, and to hold that a mere misapprehension on the part of appellant as to the true boundary line would nullify the well‑established law on adverse possession.  In that case appellee had actual, visible, notorious, and exclusive possession.  The facts in the present case are far different.  Here the possession of appellant was not visible.  No one could see below the earth's surface and determine that appellant was trespassing upon appellee's lands.  This fact could not be determined by going into the cave.  Only by a survey could this fact be made known.  The same undisputed facts clearly show that appellant's possession was not notorious.  Not even appellant itself nor any of its remote grantors knew that any part of the “Marengo Cave” extended beyond its own boundaries, and they at no time even down to the time appellee instituted this action made any claim to appellee's lands. … 

 
Even though it could be said that appellant's possession has been actual, exclusive, and continuous all these years, we would still be of the opinion that appellee has not lost his land.  It has been the uniform rule in equity that the statute of limitation does not begin to run until the injured party discovers, or with reasonable diligence might have discovered, the facts constituting the injury and cause of action.  Until then the owner cannot know that his possession has been invaded.  Until he has knowledge, or ought to have such knowledge, he is not called upon to act, for he does not know that action in the premises is necessary and the law does not require absurd or impossible things of anyone. …


In Livingston v. Rawyards (1880) L.R. 5 App.Cas. 34, Lord Hatherly treats an underground trespass as a species of fraud. While there is no active fraud shown in this case, yet the facts come clearly within the case of Lightner Mining Co. v. Lane (1911) 161 Cal. 689, 120 P. 771, 776….  The following excerpt from this opinion clearly sets forth our view:

In the English decisions the willful and secret taking of coal from a neighbor's mine is usually characterized as fraudulent. … Such an act, so committed, has all the substantial elements of fraud.  Where one by misrepresentation induces another knowingly to part with his property, because his mind is so beclouded by the falsehood that he is unaware of the wrong done him, it is called a fraud.  It is a taking of another's property without his knowledge of the fact that it is really taken from him.  The ignorance in that case is produced by artifice.  Where one betrays a trust and appropriates trust property to his own use, it is called a fraud.  The injured party allows the other to have the possession and the opportunity to convert the property secretly, because of faith and confidence in the wrongdoer.  In the case of underground mining of a neighbor's ore, nature has supplied the situation which gives the opportunity to the trespasser to take it secretly and causes the ignorance of the owner.  Relying upon this ignorance, he takes an unfair advantage of his natural opportunities, and thereby clandestinely appropriates another's property while appearing to be making only a lawful use of his own. The act in its very nature constitutes the deceit which makes it a fraud.

 
So in the case at bar, appellant pretended to use the “Marengo Cave” as his property and all the time he was committing a trespass upon appellee's land. After 20 years of secret use, he now urges the statute of limitation … as a bar to appellee's action.  Appellee did not know of the trespass of appellant, and had no reasonable means of discovering the fact.  It is true that appellant took no active measures to prevent the discovery, except to deny appellee the right to enter the cave for the purpose of making a survey, and disclaiming any use of appellee's lands, but nature furnished the concealment….  It amounts to the taking of another's property without his knowledge of the fact that it is really being taken from him. In most cases the ignorance is produced by artifice.  But in this case nature has supplied the situation which gives the trespasser the opportunity to occupy the recesses on appellee's land and caused the ignorance of appellee which he now seeks to avail himself.  We cannot assent to the doctrine that would enable one to trespass upon another's property through a subterranean passage and under such circumstances that the owner does not know, or by the exercise of reasonable care could not know, of such secret occupancy, for 20 years or more and by so doing obtained a fee‑simple title as against the holder of the legal title. The fact that appellee had knowledge that appellant was claiming to be the owner of the “Marengo Cave,” and advertised it to the general public, was no knowledge to him that it was in possession of appellee's land or any part of it. We are of the opinion that appellant's possession for 20 years or more of that part of “Marengo Cave” underlying appellee's land was not open, notorious, or exclusive, as required by the law applicable to obtaining title to land by adverse possession.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

63.  What do you think are the purposes behind statutes of limitations generally?  Do those purposes apply with equal force to actions for possession of land as they do to actions for personal injury or breach of contract?  What other purposes might adverse possession serve beside those that support statutes of limitations in other contexts?
64.  Given the purposes of adverse possession, what is the function of the “actual” element?  What evidence of “actual use” is noted in the two opinions in Lutz?  Why did the majority find this evidence insufficient?  Why did the dissent disagree?
65. If you read the New York and Florida adverse possession statutes literally, it appears that you could not adversely possess land if you lived in a pre-existing building for the adverse possession period, but did not improve, cultivate, or enclose the land.  Does this result make sense?  How did the court in Ray address this issue?

66.  What kind of evidence might there have been of “actual use” in East 13th Street? In Marengo Cave?

67. What evidence can you find in the majority opinion in Lutz about the state of mind that the court requires an adverse possessor to have?  What state of mind requirement best serves the purposes of adverse possession?
68.  Given the purposes of adverse possession, what is the function of the “continuous” element?  What evidence of this element was there in Lutz? In Marengo Cave?

69.  Why did the claimant’s use of the land in Ray satisfy the “continuous” element?  What are the pros and cons of the court’s analysis?  

70.  Why did the claimants in East 13th Street not satisfy the “continuous” element? Is the case distinguishable from Ray? What other evidence would have been helpful on this issue?

71.  Given the purposes of adverse possession, what is the function of the “exclusive” element?  What evidence was there of this element in Lutz? In Ray? In Marengo Cave?
72.  Why did the claimants in East 13th Street not satisfy the “exclusive” element?

73.  What does §5530(B) of the Pennsylvania statute do?  What is its purpose?  How does it fit in with the purposes of the “exclusive” element? 
74.  Given the purposes of adverse possession, what is the function of the “open and notorious” element?   What evidence was there of this element in Lutz? In Ray?

75.  Why did the claimants in East 13th Street not satisfy the “open & notorious” element?

76. What distinction is there in Marengo, if any, between “visible” and “open and notorious”?  Why did the use of the caves not meet those tests?  What are the pros and cons of this result?

77. Why do states have stricter requirements for adverse possession without color of title?
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SPECIAL ISSUES REGARDING BOUNDARY DISPUTES

1.  Generally:  Tension Between Two Policy Concerns

A.  Diligent landowners monitor the borders of their lots carefully.


B.  Friendly neighbors do not fuss about small intrusions or resurvey frequently to 


protect their borders

2.  State of Mind

A.  Some jurisdictions have no state of mind requirement, so that an honest mistake can yield adverse possession.


B.  Some jurisdictions with no state of mind requirement in other contexts, require “bad state of mind” (intent to adversely possess) in border disputes.  This is called the Maine Doctrine.


C.  California compromises: “(1) Where there is confusion as to the boundary of land, and the occupancy under mistake is without intention to claim another's land, the intention being to claim only to the true line wherever it may be, the holding is not adverse. (2) But where the possessor intends to claim the area occupied as his own, the holding is adverse despite the fact that the claim is based on mistake.”  Sorenson v. Costa (Cal. 1948).

3.  Open and Notorious:  Some jurisdictions require actual knowledge to meet this requirement in a boundary dispute.

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

78.  As the materials suggests, some states analyze the requirement for state of mind in cases involving boundary disputes differently from cases involving adverse possession by third parties who do not own adjoining lots.  Why might this difference have developed?  What state of mind rule is adopted by Quarles? What is the appropriate state of mind rule for adverse possession by these third parties? 

79.  Some states require actual knowledge to meet the open & notorious requirement in boundary disputes.  Is this a good result?  How might the extent of the intrusion across the boundary affect the open & notorious requirement?

80.  Why can color of title be complicated in boundary disputes?  Does Quarles deal with color of title in a satisfactory way?

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (
John Dorschner, NIGHTMARE ON 68TH STREET

Tropic Magazine, Miami Herald (May 31, 1992) 

A friend told me he’d just seen the oddest thing.  Workmen were sawing in half the carport of an old house.  It looked ridiculous.  The thing was now wide enough for maybe a motorcycle, nothing more. It was on 68th Street, just east of Biscayne Boulevard.  What the hell was happening?  One morning a few days later, I drove by.  It was the most bizarre piece of architecture I’ve ever seen:  a half‑carport.  I parked and got out.  Under its wooden roof were chunks of rocks that looked like they had once been the driveway.  No one seemed to be home.  The windows were shut.  Termites? Could that be it? The big two‑story house was made of wood, but if there were termite damage, you’d think they’d just replace the damaged boards.  I kept staring, trying to fathom the reason behind the half‑carport.  

I didn’t realize it yet, but I was staring at a strange tale of Miami’s history: a story about the strife and discord that can be created by a tiny piece  of real estate.  It’s enough to give old‑line communists ‑‑ discredited and dying practically everywhere in the world ‑‑ a brief rush of hope: Is this proof at last that private property really is a social disease? Perhaps that’s stretching things too far, though as you will see, not by much.  Perhaps it would be better to think of this as a morality tale, about what happens when a neighborhood runs afoul of the 10th Commandment, the one about coveting your neighbor’s property.  These thoughts, however, came later.  

When I first saw the truncated structure, I was busy pondering the specifics of the territory: The three feet to the right of the structure was freshly sodded, with tall, green grass sitting on patches of black dirt.  Then came the neighbor’s fence ‑‑ a serious chain‑link job, 5 1/2‑feet high, surrounding a large yard and a good‑sized two‑story house.  As I studied the sodded section, an elderly woman in a housecoat came over from this concrete house and stared at me through the fence.  I told her I was a journalist.  I wanted to know about the half‑carport.  

‘What’s the big story with that?’ she asked sternly.  ‘Why don’t you do something about the boulevard?’ She looked westward.  Her two‑story house bordered the lot of a Biscayne Boulevard business.  Several yellow rental trucks stood right against her west‑side fence, which was topped by spirals of barbed wire.  ‘Don’t you know what’s happening on the boulevard?’ she asked.  Hookers, tramps, crack addicts ‑‑ I knew.  It had been written about a hundred times.  I myself had written a huge story about it.  What about the half‑carport? ‘What’s so unusual about it?’ she asked.  ‘It’s still a carport.  You can still put a car in there.’ Maybe if the car was unusually narrow ‑‑ the width, say, of a 10‑speed bike.  I pulled out my notebook to write down her comment.  ‘No no no,’ she said, fleeing the sight of the poised pen.  ‘I don’t want to get involved.  Maybe my husband will want to say something.’ His name was George Clark Smith.  ‘Is he home?’ I asked.  She shook her head.  I passed my business card through the fence to her and asked her to have him call.  

Back at the office, I checked The Herald’s computer to see what had been published about the half‑carport house.  I found two stories, both within the past year.  Last October in the real‑estate listings, it was noted that O.D.  Pullen sold the place to Carl A.  Davis for $69,000.  Last March, a Neighbors story about the area, called Bayside, mentioned the house’s historic past: ‘The wooden frame vernacular house was built in the 1920s .  .  .  and moved in 1938 to its present location.  It has pecky cypress interior walls and ceilings, hardwood floors, pocket doors and windows, and a hand‑crafted metal stair railing.’ No mention of a carport.  

That afternoon, George Clark Smith called me.  Speaking in a gruff cracker drawl, he announced that he was an attorney, descended from the third Colonial governor of Massachusetts.  His grandfather, George Haynes, was an early Miami settler, arriving in 1910.  In 1917, Haynes built the two‑story, poured‑concrete, reinforced steel house on 68th Street that George, 73, and his wife, Marie, were still living in.  Originally, the half‑carport house had been on the boulevard, just to the west of them.  But in 1938 it was moved by a Mr.  Pullen to its present location.  Shortly after the move, George Smith said, Mr.  Pullen added a ‘porte‑cochere’ to the house.  The carport.  

Mr.  Smith had always suspected that the porte‑cochere was over the Smiths’ property line, but he really hadn’t paid much attention to it, he said, until the mid‑‘80s, when the Smiths suffered three break‑ins.  They decided they needed more security and wanted to put up a fence.  To see precisely where their property line was ‑‑ and where the fence could go ‑‑ the Smiths had a survey done.  The survey, Mr.  Smith said, proved that several feet of the porte‑cochere were on the Smith property.  By this time Mr.  Pullen had long since died, and the property was owned by his widow, Olive Pullen, who was well known in the neighborhood as a piano teacher.  The Smiths asked Mrs.  Pullen to do something about the porte‑cochere.  She never did, and several years later, when she sold the place to the Davises, the Smiths were irate that the porte‑cochere was still in place.  

‘We paid the taxes all those years on that lot,’ Mr.  Smith said, meaning the disputed three feet, ‘and they could claim no payment of taxes.’ To right this blatant injustice, he said, he filed a formal notice of encroachment on the property.  When the Davises in turn tried to sell, they found a ‘cloud on the title.’ They could do nothing until the encroachment accusation was resolved.  ‘I never asked him to cut it in half,’ Mr.  Smith said.  ‘But we wanted our land back in its original condition, with good soil and a fine, natural‑Florida grass.  And that’s what they did.  End of story.  Nothing to it.’ He indicated there were no hard feelings on anyone’s part.  ‘Why don’t you write a story about what’s happened to Biscayne Boulevard? That’s the real story,’ he said.  

That evening, I knocked on the door of the half‑carport house.  Carl Davis and his wife, Lori, came to the door.  They had been watching television.  Carl was shirtless, Lori was wearing an old blouse and a small cross of gold.  They were in their late 30s.  Their house was a marvelous blend of woods.  The exterior was Dade County pine.  The interior was pecky cypress ceilings and walls.  It had that warm, homey feeling that only wood gives.  When I told them that Mr.  Smith had said there was ‘nothing to it,’ the Davises grimaced.  

‘It’s been a nightmare,’ Lori said.  Carl, a supervisor with a U.S.  government agency, said they had lived in the Virgin Islands, Georgia, Broward and Palm Beach, ‘and we’ve never had anything like this.’ The Davises were both avid antique collectors; Lori was a member of the National Historic Trust Foundation.  As soon as they saw the house last year, they knew it was for them.  They said Olive Pullen said nothing about the disputed carport.  Before closing, Carl said, a survey was done in order to get title insurance, but the survey was only one of dozens of papers at the closing, and Carl didn’t even look at it. Only after the closing, he said, when sifting through the documents, did he see that the survey showed the carport was encroaching on the Smiths’ property.  The encroachment was also listed as an exception on the Davises’ title insurance.  Carl said he called up the attorney who handled the closing and asked why he hadn’t been informed about this before the deal was completed.  It seemed like a serious matter.  The attorney, Carl said, told him, ‘Don’t worry about that.’ Many old properties have encroachments on them and they are meaningless.  At the time, Carl thought that sounded like a good explanation.  

And so the Davises moved in, with their 1977 Mercedes, their 1983 Volvo station wagon and their pet dachshund, Whistle.  The Davises were part of the gentrification trend ‑‑ younger people moving into houses ‘east of the boulevard’ and fixing them up.  The residents of many streets had gotten barricades put up to separate themselves from the boulevard.  One neighborhood, Belle Meade, even put up a guard house.  Property values were going up.  When the Davises were moving in, the Smiths walked across their side yard to their side of the fence and said hello.  The Davises were accustomed to being welcomed to new locations by having neighbors telling them what a great place they had chosen and giving them a little something, like a cheesecake.  But this wasn’t that kind of neighborhood, and the Smiths weren’t those kind of folks.  They were in their 70s; their car was a 1978 Ford LTD.  They tended to see the dark side of the boulevard, not the improvements that gentrification was bringing.  

There is dispute over much of what happened between the Smiths and the Davises, if not over the substance of events, then over the tone in which the debate was conducted.  The Smiths maintain that they were unfailingly polite and reasonable.  The Davises say that’s wrong, that Mrs.  Smith frequently shouted at them.  As they were moving in, the Davises say, the Smiths warned them how scary the neighborhood was, and advised that they not to leave their upstairs windows open, because burglars could climb up there.  Mrs.  Smith said she had a black belt in karate and could toss a man to the ground with a flip of her wrist.  Mr.  Smith gave them advice on how to deal with burglars: ‘You can’t shoot them in the yard.  You have to shoot them in the house.’ No mention was made of the carport.  

That came a few days later, when Carl happened to be standing in the driveway.  Marie Smith came running over.  It was as if she had been waiting at her window for Carl to come outside.  ‘Do you know,’ she shouted, ‘that your carport is on our property?’ ‘Yeah,’ Carl remembers saying, ‘I recognize that the survey does indicate that.’ ‘Well, we want you to take your carport down,’ Mrs.  Smith said.  ‘Either you take your carport down, or we’ll run our fence right through it.’ Carl was astounded.  Was it possible that a carport that had been sitting there for half a century must be torn down? He couldn’t imagine it. Perhaps this outburst by Mrs.  Smith was a one‑time deal.  It wasn’t.  

Soon, the Davises say, shouting about the carport became a regular ritual: Carl would come home from work, pull his car into the disputed structure, and see Mrs.  Smith run up, screaming, ‘When are you going to take the carport down?’ Mr. Smith denies warning the Davises about their upstairs windows.  He acknowledges that his wife is a karate black belt, but says he never said anything about shooting burglars.  His wife never threatened to run a fence through the Davises’ carport.  It was Carl Davis who volunteered the information about the encroachment.  He says neither he nor his wife ever screamed at the Davises.  They always mentioned the problem politely.  

However the message was delivered, it was clear to Carl Davis that he had a serious problem. He decided he needed to do some research.  Part of the problem for the Davises was that their house was in one of the oldest sections of South Florida, and many residents had been there for decades.  Mary Diack, who lived across the street, was known as the Cat Lady because she had about 25 cats, strays that had gravitated to her over the years.  She had lived on 68th Street since 1959, making her one of the newcomers.  George Smith had moved into his grandfather’s house in 1952.  Nearby was Florence Green, an octogenarian who had arrived in the 1920s.  Her in‑laws had helped settle the neighborhood decades before, and she has stayed on in their old, wooden‑jalousied, high‑ceilinged house of poured concrete.  

Originally the area was called Lemon City.  People began living there in the 1880s, usually arriving by boat at a large dock on the bay at the end of what is now 61st Street.  If travelers kept going six miles to the south, along a sandy road, they came to the village of Miami, which was located at the mouth of the Miami River.  In the early 1900s, squads of folks from Elmira, N.Y., began buying lots in Lemon City.  In 1909, an area was platted as Elmira Subdivision.  What is now 68th Street began life as Elmira Street, with two large stone columns marked ‘Elmira’ at the intersection of the street and the sandy road, which eventually become Biscayne Boulevard.  George Clark Smith remembers the place as a small town, where people strolled down the boulevard as they would Main Street, to see and be seen.  

As a boy, George and his grandfather sometimes walked down to the end of Elmira Street, where it met the bay.  There was a pier there, open to everyone, and the boy could fish in the clear waters, catching snapper and sea trout and snook and shiners.  The countryside began around 79th Street, where sprawling strawberry fields covered the area now occupied by the Biscayne Plaza Shopping Center.  ‘They had some of the finest soil there you can imagine,’ George recalled.  ‘Allapattah had very good soil, too, back in those days.  There were a lot of strawberry fields in Allapattah, too.’ Strawberry fields, alas, are not forever.  

After World War II, Miami boomed as a tourist destination, and motels sprouted along U.S. 1, which was now Biscayne Boulevard.  During the winter season in the 1950s, rooms rented for $60 a night ‑‑ more than double what they rent for today.  Where the Exxon station now stands at 61st Street was a huge, thriving drive‑in restaurant called Coconuts, where people got choc malts and fries, as wholesome a place as you’d find anywhere in Eisenhower’s America.  On quiet 68th Street, Florence Green raised a family.  One of her sons was an artist, and in the mid‑1960s he did many paintings for the inside of the new Palm Bay Club, a high‑rise that came to dominate the neighborhood’s waterfront.  The club fenced off the land where George Clark Smith had gone fishing as a boy, but still it seemed like an upscale addition to the neighborhood.  

On the boulevard, however, the changes were decidedly not upscale.  The creation of Interstate 95 made U.S. 1 irrelevant, and the motels became desperate for customers.  Lowering their rates, many became homes to women of dubious repute.  Later came the drug dealers.  Three years ago, I spent several days walking the boulevard for a Tropic cover story: Life On The Edge.  The subhead: This Is No Man’s Land.  He Who Controls It May Control Miami’s Future.  A Walk Through The Battlefield.  The tension arose from the fight between the hookers‑dopers and the yuppie forces that supported places like Real Foods, the organic grocery store.  I talked to hookers, store owners and police officers.  I watched detectives try to piece together a drug‑overdose death.  Biscayne Boulevard had a little of everything.  

‘More than anything, it’s an edge,’ city planner Jack Luft told me.  ‘It’s not a center.  It’s an edge between changing neighborhoods that have not yet settled into a stable pattern.  It doesn’t belong to anybody.  No city street is really going to thrive unless the people on it lay claim to it.  If they don’t, then the hookers and dope dealers take over.’ At the time, I wasn’t certain who was winning the battle for the boulevard, and there was one subsection of the struggle that I missed completely: a tiny monument marker in the middle of the street that surveyors use to get their bearings.  

Jim Shiskin, of Schwebke‑Shiskin, a survey firm that has been in business for more than four decades, says that in the mid‑1970s, when the company did a survey on the street, it noticed all sorts of historical evidence ‑‑ fences, hedges, old boundary markers that showed the 50‑foot‑ and 100‑foot‑lot boundary lines were off by about 2 1/2 feet if measured from the monument marker in the middle of the boulevard.  So do you trust the monument marker or the historic evidence? The Schwebke‑Shiskin people went with the historic evidence.  ‘You can’t ignore historical evidence of old property lines,’ he says.  He figures that at some point in the past, when the boulevard was being widened, the monument marker was removed and then was replaced accidentally about 2.5 feet to the east.  That meant, if the marker were followed, all property lines would be shifted about a yard eastward.  In 1986, prompted by the Smiths’ accusations about the carport, Olive Pullen had a survey done by Schwebke‑Shiskin, which used the historic evidence, not the boulevard marker.  It showed that the carport was four inches away from the Smiths’ land.  ‘We could really sue,’ George Clark Smith says of the surveyors.  He was convinced the marker in the boulevard was the correct measurement, not the ‘historical evidence’ that Shiskin talked about.  

Some months ago, when the Smiths started complaining about the carport, Carl Davis found the old Pullen survey, but it didn’t reassure him: He had also discovered several other surveys that had been done over the years that seemed to indicate the Smiths were right.  The carport was encroaching on the Smiths’ land.  Worried, Carl called another attorney, whom we shall call Attorney No. 2.  No. 2 demanded a $500 retainer, which Carl paid.  For this, No. 2 listened to Carl’s tale of woe, made a few phone calls, maybe did some research and fired off a letter to the attorney at the closing, whom we can call Attorney No. 1.  No. 1 stated that he had fully informed Carl of the problem prior to closing, and there was a title agent who had witnessed the conversation.  The title agent agreed that the conversation had taken place.  The two real‑estate agents at closing said they hadn’t heard it.  Attorney No. 2 told Carl the retainer had been used up and the Davises owed $100 more.  No. 2 wanted another retainer before he did anything else.  Carl didn’t like the sound of this.  Six hundred dollars and what he basically got was one letter? Forget it, he decided.  He paid off the $100 debt, and that was it.  No. 2 stopped working on the case.  

Meanwhile, the Davises say, Mrs.  Smith was continuing to be rather vocal.  The Davises put up an eight‑foot‑high wooden fence on the other side of their property, and Mrs. Smith hated it.  She wondered aloud to Lori Davis if the Davises were trying to hide something.  Perhaps they were taking in ‘boarders,’ in violation of the zoning code.  Lori says that a painter she hired told her that Mrs. Smith had even mocked the Davises’ ‘luxury’ automobile, the 15‑year‑old Mercedes.  Plus, the Davises say, Mrs.  Smith kept screeching about the carport.  

Mr. Smith says that he and his wife did indeed wonder what the big wooden fence was supposed to hide, but they didn’t make any snide remark about the Mercedes.  If someone wants to own a foreign car, that’s fine with Mr. Smith, and he says he felt no envy over the fact that the car was somewhat fancier than his 1978 Ford LTD, which is ‘in perfect running condition.’  Mr. Smith adds that he doesn’t resent younger people moving into the neighborhood, and he likes the rising property values that they’ve brought.  But the Smiths were indeed concerned about the offending carport.  ‘A man’s home is his castle,’ Mr. Smith says simply.  And he was deeply offended that the Davises’ carport was sitting on a sliver of the castle’s grounds.  He says he was serious about getting the land back.  

As the dispute dragged on, dark thoughts started running through Lori Davis’ mind.  She began wondering if the Smiths were angry enough to do something rash.  ‘I’m not living next door to that woman,’ Lori decided.  She says she and Carl had been planning to live on 68th Street for quite a while, but the tension was just too much.  They had already started some home improvements, and now they accelerated them: putting in new electrical wiring, painting the outside, redoing some of the wood finishing inside.  In February, they put their house on the market for $79,000 ‑‑ $10,000 more than they had paid for it last July.  

Within two days, a young flight attendant named Robert Goulet saw the house.  Robert, a distant relation of the famed singer, was living in an apartment in Miami Beach.  He was looking for an old house with a lot of character.  He had put in bids on three different houses and been turned down each time.  He was feeling discouraged, but friends told him everything would turn out all right in the end.  ‘Your house will come along,’ they assured him.  When he saw the Davises’ house, he knew this was the house.  It had four bedrooms, three baths, a full attic ‑‑ and enough character for a dozen old houses.  The Davises told them that there was a running dispute with the Smiths about the carport.  Robert Goulet didn’t care.  He offered the Davises their full asking price: $79,000.  Before closing, a researcher for the title company did a records search, then called Carl: ‘We have a big problem here,’ he told Carl.  A formal notice of encroachment had been filed by George Clark Smith against the Davises’ property.  The house couldn’t be sold until the problem was cleared up.  

Carl and Lori were stunned.  They hadn’t really believed that their neighbor could stop them from selling their house.  They talked to Sharon Bock, who became Attorney No. 3.  Bock told the Davises that they had a good chance of winning a lawsuit, because the carport had been sitting there, legally unchallenged, for 54 years and because the Smiths had not filed an encroachment notice when Mrs. Pullen sold the house.  But there was no absolute guarantee that the court’s verdict would be favorable.  What’s more, the lawsuit would cost a bundle.  If it took $600 to write a letter, the Davises figured, it might take more than $10,000 to bring the case to trial.  Mr. Smith would be fighting them happily and cheaply, because as an attorney, he wouldn’t have to spend a penny in legal fees.  Worse, a drawn‑out lawsuit would mean that the Davises would have to remain neighbors of the Smiths for quite a while, until the lawsuit was settled.  Not good.  

Perhaps, the real‑estate agents suggested, the Davises could just buy the disputed three feet.  Carl suspected that, that was what the Smiths really wanted.  But he wasn’t feeling any generosity toward the Smiths, and negotiating with such adamant folks was not an appealing prospect.  Still, an agent ‑‑ acting on behalf of the buyer ‑‑ called the Smiths and asked what they would take for the disputed land.  Mr.  Smith responded that he wouldn’t part with it, even for $50,000.  Shrinking the size of his property, he said, ‘would ruin our lot situation.’ The carport controversy was becoming a wretched business.  ‘I was shocked and a little sickened,’ the Davises’ real‑estate agent, Norah Schaefer, said about the notice of encroachment.  But what could be done? After weeks of agonizing, Norah suggested a Solomon‑like solution: ‘Cut the damn thing down.’ Or, more precisely, cut it in half: The Davises needed to keep half the carport because it supported an upstairs bathroom, but workmen could chop off half the roof, move the wooden support columns over, and create a half‑carport.  Robert Goulet, the prospective buyer, said that was fine with him.  The carport came down.  

What more needed to be done? Mr.  Smith, in his encroachment notice, demanded that there be ‘restoration of the ground with grass.’ He wanted to approve all changes.  Carl himself took a pickax and chopped up the old coral‑rock driveway.  The old posts had been embedded in concrete.  The Davises checked with Mr.  Smith.  Get rid of the concrete, he demanded.  The Davises did.  They put in black dirt and grass.  What else? asked the Davises.  Mr.  Smith wanted them to remove the backyard fence that touched his fence.  The Davises did.  The Smiths watched all this solemnly.  ‘Look,’ Lori Davis asked Marie Smith at one point, ‘what more do you want from me?’ Well, there was the clothesline.  One pole holding the clothesline was on the Smith property.  Carl took it down.  

The  Davises  had removed everything that could have possibly encroached on the Smiths’ property, but these actions alone could not remove the notice of encroachment.  To do that, they would either have to go to court or get Mr.  Smith to sign a release form.  Attorney No.  3, Bock, offered to send a courier over to pick up the release.  George Clark Smith said no.  He insisted on personally attending the closing.  He arrived wearing one of those old‑fashioned 10‑gallon felt cowboy hats.  At the last moment, he handed over the release. The deal was done: Robert Goulet bought the house.  According to the agreement, the Davises can continue living in the house until today.  When they move, that would seem to be the end of the dispute.  Perhaps it would be in Elmira, N.Y.  But not in Miami.  In Miami, things were just getting started.  

One afternoon, I drifted around the neighborhood.  The Smiths said they had no plans to move their fence to cover their new territory, although they might later.  All Marie Smith was doing was watering the new grass with a hose from inside her fence.  Mary Diack, the Cat Lady, thought what had happened to the carport was awful.  ‘The Davises made such a big improvement with that property,’ she said.  ‘If somebody wants the land back, they shouldn’t wait 50 years.’  Mrs. Green agreed.  She thought the Smiths were being ‘mean’ for demanding that the carport be removed, but she had her own concerns: She was having a new heavy security door installed, along with iron bars.  She was feeling as though she needed more protection.  About a year ago, someone had broken into her house and taken a couple of marble table tops.  That was the second time she had been burglarized in the past decade ‑‑ not bad by neighborhood standards ‑‑ but ‘I noticed I was the only one on the street without bars.’ She spent $2,000 on the bars and the new door.  Neither Mrs.  Green nor Mary the Cat Lady wanted to say anything about the Smiths: Both said they were afraid of getting sued.  (When I had reached Olive Pullen by telephone, she had said the same thing.  She was living quietly in Virginia, and didn’t want to get involved because she feared the Smiths might sue.) 

I walked over to the Smiths’ neighbors on the boulevard side ‑‑ the former motel that had been converted into a travel agency and truck‑rental place.  In the office, a guy sat at a desk, a large jar of jelly and a large jar of peanut butter and a box of crackers in front of him.  From these items he was meticulously making layered treats.  A TV set was showing a Bewitched rerun.  It didn’t look like he was expecting a horde of customers.  ‘I know what you should write about,’ the guy said after I told him who I was.  ‘Let me guess,’ I responded quickly, hoping to cut him off.  ‘The boulevard!’ he shouted, rushing ahead.  He had been on the boulevard since 1960, first with a business called Caribbean Interiors, then with the motel.  ‘I bought this motel back in 1975 and then all the whores started coming in, and I closed it down.’ The police back in 1978 promised him that the boulevard would be cleaned up in a year, but the place had only gotten worse.  Across the street, he was constantly seeing crack dealers and hookers.  

The guy said he didn’t want his name used because he wanted to avoid ‘controversy,’ but he, too, had had run‑ins with the Smiths.  When he’d converted the motel into a truck‑rental agency, he’d put up a fence at the back so thieves couldn’t sneak in at night and take the trucks.  Mr.  Smith had objected, complaining that the fence split a shared driveway that the Smith family had used for generations.  By historic usage, Mr.  Smith claimed, the Smiths really owned the driveway.  But wouldn’t that same argument grant the Davises’ ownership of the carport? I asked the truck guy about that.  He said he hadn’t gotten involved in the Davises’ fight, but years before, during the Smiths’ dispute with Mrs.  Pullen, the piano teacher, he had sided with Mrs.  Pullen and measured the property himself.  He found the Smiths were wrong.  

‘I’ll show you,’ he said, pulling out what might be considered the neighborhood’s weapon of choice: A 100‑foot tape measure.  We went outside.  At the edge of the street, right by the fence that separated his property from the Smiths’, a small metal stake was embedded in the concrete.  ‘This is the property mark,’ he said, attaching the end of the tape to it.  We walked east toward the Davises’ property. About 12 to 18 inches past the Smiths’ fence, the 100 feet stopped.  ‘Look,’ the guy said, pulling out a copy of an old plat map.  ‘Each lot is 50 feet wide.  The Smiths had two lots ‑‑ that’s 100 feet.  The carport didn’t start until about two feet from the fence, so....’ He examined the new half‑carport.  ‘What a shame,’ he said.  ‘There was no need for that.’  

Just then, Mrs.  Smith came running out of her house.  ‘What are you doing?’ she said, eyeing the tape measure.  She could see damn well what he was doing.  He was ... measuring! She stared for a moment at the tape, then swung around and looked at the guy’s property line.  ‘Why do you have your trucks there?’ she asked, resuming the old battle about the unsightly trucks.  ‘Because of all the whores and dope dealers on the boulevard,’ he replied.  ‘You know that.’ ‘You had a nice place,’ she said.  ‘Yes, I did.’ ‘That was your livelihood.’ ‘Yes it was.’ Briefly, they shared mournful observations about the deterioration of the boulevard, then the truck guy left, rolling in his tape as he went.  

Over the next several days, the drama continued.  The truck guy’s son, Julius, re‑did the measurement to show Carl Davis exactly where the property line was, and as they were standing outside, Mrs. Smith ran out, yelling at the son, ‘I’m going to sue you, I’m going to sue you!’ A few days later, she showed up by the fence with some workmen who were staring at the new sod and having discussions.  What was she planning? Moving the fence? 

The next day, I called the Smiths.  Mrs.  Smith reported that, at that very moment, Lori Davis and the truck guy’s son were standing in the street and ... talking.  ‘They’re doing it right now!’ she complained.  The Smiths had no regrets about the battle to claim their additional three feet.  ‘You could never get a loan or sell the property unless that was resolved,’ Mr.  Smith said, though he added that he has no plans to apply for a loan or sell the property.  Still, the apparent resolution of the land dispute did not seem to salve their bitterness.  

Listening to George Clark Smith, descendant of the third governor of Colonial Massachusetts, I got the sense that life had been going downhill for decades.  The small‑town Miami of the 1920s, the placid boulevard where they had once shopped and strolled and met friends, had disappeared.  No coincidence, I thought, that they had first focused on the property dispute after their house had been broken into three times in rapid succession.  I imagined how easily their anger at the decay of the boulevard might have shifted to the carport.  As their world shrank, each square inch of their property became a fighting matter.  In fact, protecting their land seemed the only way they could fight back.  The arrival of the Davises clearly didn’t improve the situation.  Most of their neighbors were overjoyed by the improvements the Davises made.  Not the Smiths.  Though Mr.  Smith says he felt no envy or hostility toward his new neighbors, he did press the encroachment issue in a way that he never had with the elderly Mrs.  Pullen.  

As for the Davises, well, they aren’t feeling all that happy lately, either.  In recent days, they have begun to have second thoughts about chopping the carport in half and selling the property.  ‘This article isn’t going to make us look like fools, is it?’ Carl asked me one day on the phone.  He and Lori had been looking for weeks for a new house, searching for something old with a lot of character.  They could find nothing in their price range and were resigning themselves to moving into a rental. ‘Sometimes, we wonder if we were a little too hasty,’ Carl said.  Prices have been going up quickly in the area.  Is the area really improving?  Depends on who you ask.  

Julius, the son of the guy at the truck‑rental place, still has a lot of complaints about the boulevard.  He still sees lots of hookers and crack dealers, even in the area around the boulevard’s new police mini‑station.  ‘That so‑called station doesn’t do much.  The officers come there to go to the bathroom or make a phone call, that’s it.  It’s a waste of taxpayers’ money.’ Joan Lutton, a long‑time boulevard activist and principal of the Cushman School, disagrees.  She thinks there’s been considerable improvement in the three years since I wrote my story on the boulevard.  Still, her list of improvements is hardly an indication of neighborhood perfection: ‘Police response time is definitely better.  We almost never see a crack dealer.  There are these new signs we have ‑‑ Drug Free School Zone.  A dealer sees one of those and he knows he’s facing an extra penalty if he’s caught.  We used to see pimps beating up hookers.  Now we don’t.  The three or four blocks around us are pretty clean.  We haven’t had a break‑in in over a year ‑‑ knock on wood.  ‘I’ve worked here 13 years.  I grew up in this area.  I went to Miami Edison, and I think this area’s going to get quite good, but it’s never going to be like it was back in the 1950s.  Old‑timers might want that.  They’re not willing to accept all these changes.  But we’ve become a vibrant community, with a lot of variety, and frankly the 1950s were a little bland.  So we’ve had a lot of good changes.’ 

On 68th Street, more changes are on the way.  The Smiths’ new neighbor, Robert Goulet, plans to separate himself from them with a high wooden fence ‑‑ so he will never have to see them.  He’s also talking to neighbors, drumming up support for the idea of barricading the street so it would be separated from Biscayne Boulevard.  ‘We’re going to close the street off!’ he boasts happily.  Guess who doesn’t want the street closed? The Smiths.  They hate the idea of a barricade: It would make it harder for police and firemen to reach them.  Mr. Smith says he represents several Belle Meade residents who are fighting the guard house that was recently installed for their neighborhood.  Such things, he says, are not ‘improvements.’ 

A possibly even more serious conflict is brewing.  This one concerns ‑‑ surprise! ‑‑ property lines.  Recently, after I visited him, the truck guy was struck with an idea ‑‑ a revelation, almost.  It was perfectly clear from the plat maps that the Smiths should have 100 feet along 68th Street, nothing more.  But he could tell from the measurements that, including the newly sodded area, the Smiths were claiming about 103 feet.  So, in classic 68th Street fashion, the truck guy decided to fight back by ...  commissioning a survey! He  figured the Davis‑Goulet three feet is gone.  Those folks surrendered.  Gave up.  Threw in the towel.  But it doesn’t seem right to him that the Smiths get that extra three feet.  So he called a surveyor who came and measured.  The conclusion: The truck guy owned about three feet of land inside the Smiths’ fence.  He dreamed aloud about tearing down the old chain‑link fence with the barbed wire that currently separates his big yellow trucks from the Smiths.  He’d take the extra three feet and build an eight‑foot‑high concrete wall to block off his neighbors.  ‘I can really use it,’ the truck guy said of the additional property.  But he seemed more interested in what the news would do to his neighbors.  ‘This,’ he said gleefully, ‘is really going to steam off the Smiths.’ ‘Getting their just deserts!’ croaked Norah Schaefer, the real‑estate agent, when she heard the news.  ‘Oh beautiful!’ 

‘No! No!’ responded Mr.  Smith when he heard about the new survey.  ‘That’s wrong.’ He insisted those survey people were using the wrong marker.  The idea that he now had 103 feet was irrelevant, he said, because property lines aren’t a matter of measuring with a tape, but relying on markers, and he had had a survey done by a top‑notch man who, he pointed out, had done work for NASA.  ‘He knew his business,’ Mr.  Smith said proudly.  Julius, the truck guy’s son, says baloney: 103 feet is 103 feet, which is three feet too many.  The family attorney sent Mr.  Smith a letter, claiming three feet on the boulevard side.  A week passed.  Suddenly, Mr.  Smith’s mood shifted.  After thinking about it, he said, he understood Julius’ position: ‘He’s entitled to some of it,’ he said of his western border.  ‘I have no objection to him.’ Even if Mr.  Smith concedes this latest turf battle, however, that doesn’t mean that things on the street are going to quiet down.  Because of the marker shift years ago, Julius says, everybody’s property on 68th Street east of the boulevard is going to be moving east by three feet or so.  ‘A lot of neighbors don’t know it, but they’re encroaching on each other.’  Stay tuned.  
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

81.  Suppose the case described in Nightmare on 68th Street had gone to court in Florida?  Would the elements of adverse possession have been met?

82.  Why did Mr. Smith emphasize that “We paid the taxes all those years on that lot“?
83.  How do disability provisions fit into the purposes of adverse possession?

84. Suppose the Florida legislature is considering eliminating adverse possession or at least modifying the statute to alter the requirements.  What changes would you advocate? What arguments about the appropriate scope of adverse possession are suggested by the facts of the cases in this section?  What position on adverse possession would an advocate for an environmental advocacy group take?  An advocate for the interests of the homeless?

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (
REVIEW PROBLEMS
(A)  Discuss whether Monica’s possession of Rossacre meets the “continuous” element of adverse possession in the following scenario:  Monica claims she has adversely possessed Rossacre because she resided in the two-bedroom house on the property with color of title for ten years, which is the relevant statutory period.  However, during the ten-year period in question, Monica’s leg was shattered in a car accident and she was away from the property for five months while she was first in the hospital and then living at her parents’ house undergoing rehabilitation.  During the five months she was being nursed back to health, she had the utilities and mail service stopped.  She gave her friend David a key to the house and asked him to water the plants and feed Alfonso, her pampered cat.  Instead, David took the cat home himself and fed it there.  David did water the plants at the house once every two or three weeks while Monica was away.

(B) Discuss whether the growth of the mangroves encroaching onto Leslie’s land in the following scenario meets the “open and notorious” element of adverse possession:   Fresh Mangroves are fast-growing trees, which if left to their natural growth patterns, put down additional roots in an ever-larger area spreading out from their original location. Significant portions of these roots are above the ground.  Leslie and Jennifer own large adjoining plots of land.  Each plot contains a large house, extensive lawns, and many trees and shrubs.  In 1972, knowing of their tendency to spread rapidly, Jennifer planted a line of Fresh Mangroves along the edge of her property adjacent to Leslie’s lot. Neither Leslie nor Jennifer ever trimmed the line of mangroves, but Jennifer regularly watered them and sprayed them with fertilizer and insecticides while standing on her side of the property line.  In 1998, Rene offered to purchase Jennifer’s lot.  A survey revealed that the mangroves had encroached onto Leslie’s property in a strip about fifteen feet wide along the whole property line.  Jennifer now claims the strip by adverse possession.

(C). Discuss whether David meets the "continuous" element of adverse possession in the following scenario:  David owns an outdoor amphitheater, which he rents out to theater companies and rock groups.  The events at the amphitheater take place about 30-40 days a year, usually on weekends, and usually in the summer.  A hillside, owned by someone else, overlooks the amphitheater.  For a number of years, equal to the statutory period for adverse possession in his state, whenever there has been an event at the amphitheater, David has instructed his employees to rope off the hillside and place sound and lighting equipment there.  When the event is over, he has them remove it.  No other use is made by anyone of the hillside.

(D) Discuss whether Ariadne has met the actual use requirement for adversely possessing the lot in the following scenario:  Ariadne "Nosey" Parker lives next door to a vacant lot. When she first moved into the neighborhood, graffiti covered the stone wall that surrounded the lot on three sides and garbage was strewn across the lot.  Ariadne repainted the walls, cleaned up the garbage, and planted a hedge across the fourth side of the lot.  For the last ten years, the statutory period for adverse possession in the jurisdiction, she has washed off new graffiti, removed garbage from the lot and trimmed the hedge. 

(E) Discuss whether Hamlet has met the "exclusive" element of adverse possession in the following scenario:  Cladius dies leaving an invalid will that gives two contiguous properties to Hamlet and Gertrude respectively.  Because the will is invalid, Gertrude is the true owner of both properties.  Hamlet resides on the land he thinks is his for the statutory adverse possession period.  During this time, Gertrude, without Hamlet's permission, regularly goes on to "Hamlet's" land to pick blueberries.  However, she does not go onto "his" land for any other reason. 

(F) Discuss whether, in the following scenario, John has satisfied the exclusive element of adverse possession regarding all or part of Sun-Acre.  Assume that the relevant statute of limitations is ten years.  In 1992, Ian inadvertently sold Sun-acre at separate times to both John and Kindon, each of whom believes in good faith that he is the owner.  Under the relevant recording statute, Kindon is the legal owner, but he lives out of state and has never visited Sun-acre.  John moved onto Sun-acre on October 1, 1992, and since that date has operated a business growing heather and other decorative plants for resale to nurseries.  


In August 2002, Kindon decided he might like to use Sun-Acre as a horse farm, and hired Genny, who lives near Sun-acre, to help him.  Genny first hired workers to build a half-mile long fence on Sun-Acre just inside the western property line.  When the fence was complete in late September, Genny inspected Sun-Acre for the first time and encountered John and his business.  She failed to make contact with Kindon for several days, so Kindon was unable to file an ejectment action until October 5, 2002.  

John claims to have adversely possessed Sun-Acre on October 1. Kindon’s attorney argues that John’s possession was not exclusive because of the construction of the fence and Genny’s inspection.  John’s attorney argues that the construction of the fence is not sufficient for Kindon to retake the entire farm (a square one-half mile long on each side) and that the inspection by itself was insufficient to toll the statute of limitations.

a  The prologue and epilogue are taken from J. Dukeminier & J. Krier, Property 121-23; 129-30 (4th ed. 1998).  The authors took the information from the record and briefs submitted in this case and in subsequent litigation.





b Prescription differs from adverse possession in terms of the sort of interests acquired. By adverse possession one may acquire the title or ownership, and the exclusive possession, of land formerly belonging to someone else, say X, whereas prescription gives rise to rights of use, such as rights of way and other easements, but title to the land remains in X. In some jurisdictions the elements of the two doctrines are essentially identical, in others not….  [Footnote by Dukeminier & Krier]


c At the time of the Lutz case, N.Y. Civil Practice Act §§34, 38,39, and 40 provided:





§34. An action to recover real property or the possession thereof cannot be maintained by a party other than the people, unless the plaintiff, his ancestor, predecessor or grantor, was seized or possessed of the premises in question within fifteen years before the commencement of the action. 





§38. For the purpose of constituting an adverse possession, by a person claiming a title founded upon a written instrument or a judgment or decree, land is deemed to have been possessed and occupied in either of the following cases:


1. Where it has been usually cultivated or improved.


2. Where it has been protected by a substantial inclosure.


3. Where, although not inclosed, it has been used for the supply of fuel or of fencing timber, either for the purposes of husbandry or for the ordinary use of the occupant.


Where a known farm or single lot has been partly improved , the portion of the farm or lot that has been left not cleared or not inclosed, according to the usual course and custom of the adjoining country, is deemed to have been occupied for the same length of time as the part improved and cultivated.





§39. Where there has been an actual continued occupation of premises under a claim of title, exclusive of any other right, but not founded upon a written instrument or a judgment or decree, the premises so actually occupied, and no others, are deemed to have been held adversely.





§40. For the purpose of constituting an adverse possession by a person claiming title not founded upon a written instrument or a judgment or decree, land is deemed to have been possessed and occupied in either of the following cases, and no others:


1. Where it has been protected by a substantial inclosure.


2. Where it has been usually cultivated or improved.
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